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OPINION

The proof at trial established that the Defendant, John “Wdf” Brown, and the victim, Billy
Ray Crumley, had arocky relationship. The two met in October 1993 when the Defendant was
attempting to purchase some methamphetamine. The Defendant also met Debbie Bryan, who was
dating the victim. The Defendant and hiswife, Elaina Conn Brown, socialized with Billy Crumley
and Debbie Bryan until both couples separated in April 1994. In May 1994, the Defendant started
dating Debbie Bryan. Billy Crumleyand Elaina Brown started seeing each other aswell, but Elaina
denied that their relationship was romantic.

After the Defendant and Debbie Bryan started dating, Billy Crumley became very jealous.
Herepeatedly told othersthat he wasin love with Debbie and that heplanned to kill the Defendant.
The Defendant also stated that he was going to kill Crumley if Crumley did not leave him alone.
Neverthel ess, the Defendant would allow Crumley to visit his residence, known as*“Booger Hill,”
to purchase and use methamphetamine. The Defendant and Crumley continued to use
methamphetamine together. The Defendant regularly sold methamphetamine at “Booger Hill.”*

Therewas aplethoraof evidence offered regarding the animosity between the Defendant and
Billy Crumley and regarding Crumley sviolent tendencies. On June 24, 1994, Crumley and Elaina
Brown went to the Defendant’s residence to retrieve some of Elaina's belongings, incorrectly
believing that the Defendant was not there. According to the Defendant, Debbie and Elaina started
fighting because Elainacalled Debbie s daughter aname. The fight escalated and Crumley started
hitting the Defendant, at which point the Defendant yelled at Vicky Brown, his brother’s ex-wife,
togoget agun. Vicky wentinto the house and brought back agun, which she gaveto the Defendant.
The Defendant pointed the gun at Crumley andtold himto leave and not come back. The Defendant
said that Crumley called him later that day and said, “I’ [l be up there sometime and get you when
you'releast expectingit. .. . It couldbefrom thewoods, it could be on theroad. . . Y ou’ d better [ook
up in the trees too because | could be up in atree.”

Danny “Rambo” Jones, a friend of the Defendart, testified that he had heard Crumley
threaten to kill the Defendant “around a hundred” times, but he had never heard the Defendant
threaten Crumley. Jones sai d that the Defendant wasnot aviol ent man. He testified that Cruml ey,
however, had tried to kill himtwice. Thefirst timewasin April 1994 before Crumley and Debbie
Bryan broke up. Jones explained,

lAs aresult of hisdrug activity, the Defendant was convicted of several federal drug offenses, for which heis
serving life plus five yearsin the federal penitentiary.
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He come [sic] over at the house one day and, him and Debbie and Ricky Self, and
just showed up. And | thought at the time we was [sic] friends, which | was
mistaken. So | let them come on in the house then and he started saying stuff like
[the Defendant] and Debbie was [sic] in the house having it on, having sex therein
my house. And | told him that they wasn’t [sic], you know, they wasn’t [sic] even
there. And Debbiewassitting theretelling them that hewasn’t [sic], that they wasn't
[sic],and they wasn't [sic]. But hedidn’t want to believethat, so hejust commenced
on trying to choke on me and started beating me then.

The next incident occurred on Friday, July 8, 1994, two days before the death of Billy Crumley.
Jones testified that Crumley came to his house, kicked the door in, and barged in the house toward
Jones' wife, Tammy. Jones said that he pushed Crumley out of his house with a shotgun, but then
Crumley started to take the gun away from him. Jones fired the gun, which only had one shell, in
order to empty the gun so Crumley could not shoot him with it. Crumley then threw gasolinein
Jones’' face so tha Jones could not see. At this point, Crumley took the shotgun from Jones and
struck Jones with it. Jones said that Crumley “just started chopping on me like | was a piece of
wood.” During thistime, Jones wife was screaming hysterically, and she called the police. After
Tammy Jones told Crumley she had called the police, Crumley held up the shotgun and said he
“would be back to finish it off, and he planned on getting Wolf Brown [the Defendant] too.” The
Defendant arrived at Jones' house within fifteen minutes of Crumley leaving. Jones testified that
he and the Defendant wereplanning to betogether at Jones housethat day, and Crumley knew that.
Jones thought that Crumley had gone there to kill the Defendant, but when the Defendant wasn’t
there, he attempted to kill Jones instead. Joneswas taken to the hospital by ambulance and was
treated and released.

Michael Stansberry testified that on July 8, 1994, he was at Elaina Brown’'s house when
Crumley entered carrying a shotgun. Crumley told Stansberry tha he had just left Danny Jones
house and that he had taken the gun away from Jones and beat Jones with it. Stansberry said that
the barrel was bent and the stock was broken. Crumley wanted Stansberry to take him to Wal-Mart
to buy some ammunition so that he could go back and kill Jones. Stansberry said that hetried totalk
Crumley out of killing Jones, but when that proved unsuccessful, he accompanied Crumley to Wal-
Mart and then back to Jones' house. However, when they approached Jones' house, they met two
police cars. Crumley threw the shotgun out thewindow. Both men then jumped out of the car and
ranin different directions. Crumley was arrested and takentojail. Stansberry testified that he was
friends with both the Defendant and Crumley and further testified that Crumley often threatened to
kill the Defendart.

Crumley’ smother, LindaCrumley, testified that her son called her fromjail and told her that
he had beenin afight at Danny Jones’ house and had been shot. Sherefused tobail him out of jail,
although she had done so in the past. On the evening of July 9, Crumley again called hismother and
told her he was out of jail. He promised her that he was going to go to his father’s house.



The Defendant testified that Crumley also called him from jail and told him that he had
“better get me $1,500 down hereto get outon or you'll wishyou had.” The Defendant said he hung
up on Crumley. He said that Crumley called himagain later that night on July 9 and told him that
he was out of jail. The Defendant testified that Crumley said, “I’m coming to get you. . . . I'll get
everybody that’ s there, women, children, | don’t care.” The Defendant spent the night at Debbie's
house that night because he had his children and he did not want anything to happen around them.
He said that he called his house that night and talked to Jack Presswood, who was staying there.
Presswood told the Defendant that Crumley had called and accused him of lying when Presswood
told Crumley that the Defendant was not there.

The next day, which was Sunday, July 10, 1994, the Defendant returned to his house with
one of hisyoung sons, Jody. Shortly &ter he arrived, Crumley called. TheDefendant testified that
Crumley said he was coming over, even though the Defendant told him not to come. Billy Webb
and Jack Presswood were there. The Defendant testified that he asked Billy Webb to take his son
away “in case there' sany trouble,” which Billy Webb did.

Billy Webb testified that he took Jody for aride in the car, and when they returned, Webb
noticed that Crumley had just pulled up. Webb said that he walked over to Crumley and told him
that it would be best if hejust left, but Crumley refused. Webb saw a shotgun in Crumley’ scar, but
he did not see Crumley with a weapon when he walked toward the Defendant’ s house. Webb saw
Crumley walk to the house, and then Webb left again with the Defendant’ s son.

Three witnesses testified about the death of Billy Crumley. Neil Jack Presswood, afriend
of the Defendant’s, testified for the State. Presswood had been staying & the Defendant’s house
prior to theincident, and he testifi ed that they “were mostly using drugs and just selling drugs and
partying” during that time. They were selling and using methamphetamine.

Presswood testified that the night before the shooting, Crumley called the Defendant’ shouse
wanting to purchase drugs. When Presswood told Crumley that the Defendant was not there,
Crumley became very angry. Crumley told Presswood that if Presswood did not put the Defendant
on the phone, “he was going to come up there and shoot everybody.” Presswood did not take the
threat seriously because he had heard Crumley make similar threatsten or fifteen timesinthe couple
of months preceding thisincident. The next day, Crumley called the Defendant’ s house again and
talked to the Defendant. Presswood said tha after the phoneconversation, theDefendant told him
that Crumley wascoming over and that if Crumley came over, the Defendant was going to kill him.

Crumley did arrive at the Defendant’ s house, and Presswood said that he went outside to
leave Crumley and the Defendant alone because Crumley was there to purchase drugs. About five
minutes later, the Defendant and Crumley came outside. Presswood testified that Crumley sat on
the picnic table, and the Defendant sat at the foot of the steps to the house. They were talking, but
not yelling. At some point, the conversation turned to Crumley’ s phone call the night before, and
Crumley denied making the phone call. Presswood said that hetold Crumley, “Well, | know it was
you, Billy. I know your voice.” Crumley responded by saying, “Well, let’s, you know, let’ sjust get
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these people up herethat called and get this problem solved.” Presswood testified that at that time,
the Defendant, who was still sitting on thesteps, wastwirling hisgun, a.357 Magnum, on hisfinger.
When the Defendant did not respond to Crumley, Crumley said, “If you'regoing to kill me, all | ask
isyou make it quick.” The Defendant then shot Crumley. Crumley was not armed, and he was
sitting ten to fifteen feet away from the Defendant. Presswood sad that Crumley did not act
threateningly in any way before the Defendant shot.

Presswood testified that after the Defendant shot Crumley, the Defendant told him to help
him pull the body around the side of the house. Presswood and the Defendant then pulled the body
around the house and loaded it on the back of afour-wheeler. The Defendant took the body into the
woods. When he returned, the Defendant told Presswood and Billy Webb, who had arrived at the
house, that “[w]ell, you' ns[sic] know the story now. If you' ns[sic] have got anything to say about
this, say it now, because | don’'t want it ever mentioned again.” Presswood said that he only spoke
with the Defendant once about the shooting after that, and the Defendant said that hefelt like hehad
done the right thing. Presswood testified that he knew the Defendant had buried the body on the
property because you could smell it.

Presswood further testified that about three weeks after the shooting, the police raided the
Defendant’ s house. Presswood, along with several other people, was there at the time. The body
of Billy Ray Crumley was found as a result of the raid. After the raid, Presswood gave three
different datementsto the police. At first, hedenied hisinvolvement in movingthebody. He said
that his third statement told the entire story. Presswood admitted writing the Defendant a letter
telling him that they both knew it was self-defense and not to worry about histestimony. Presswood
said that hewrotethat letter because hisfamily had been threatened, but the shooting wasnot in self-
defense. He admitted that he had pled guilty to federal drug charges and that as part of that plea
agreement he testified against the Defendant in the federal drug trial. Healso admitted reaching an
agreement with the State to testify against the Defendant in the murder trial. Presswood had been
charged with accessory after the fact for hisinvolvement in the shooting.

Billy Webb testified that when he returned to the Defendant’ s house the second time, he | eft
the Defendant’ s son in the car and started walking toward the house. He looked toward the house
and saw Presswood and Crumley come out of the house, followed by the Defendant. He said the
Defendant “was doing some hollering, and Billy had walked over tothe picnic table. And he clumb
[sic] up on it and he sat down.” The Defendant was standing at the entrance to the house and
Presswood had walked to the side of the shed. Webb sad that Crumley kept sitting on thepicnic
table and the Defendant kept yelling to Presswood, “ Jack, you know he's calling you aliar? You
hear that, Jack?’ Webb said that the Defendant’ s voice was “[s]ort of arage.” Webb then stated,
“Well, at that point in time, it didn’t last but just a matter of afew minutes there before Wolf drew
his pistol. He had aholster on. He drew it and he shot Billy Crumley off the picnic table.” After
the Defendant shot Crumley, Webb saw Presswood grab one of Crumley' s legs and begin to drag
him around the building. Webb said that he left at this point.



The Defendant testified that after Billy Webb left with his son, he told Presswood to take a
rifleand go up in the woods, and heloaded his.357 after Presswood went outside with therifle. He
had just finished loading the gun when Crumley came in. The Defendant testified that it was just
Crumley and the Defendant inthe house; Presswood wasinthewoodswiththerifle. The Defendant
kept Crumley at bay with the gun. A pool table was between them. The Defendant insisted that he
was afraid of Crumley because Crumley was a big man, was violent, and had repeatedly threatened
to kill him. They talked in that room for thirty or forty minutes. Crumley told the Defendant that
he needed money for alawyer, and he suggested that he and the Defendant go rob some place. The
Defendant said he declined the offer. Crumley got both the Defendant and himself a beer. The
Defendant said he drank abeer with Crumley, but he still had the gun and would not |et Crumley get
close to him. He said that he repeatedly asked Crumley to leave, but Crumley would not leave.
Finaly, Crumley agreed to leave, and he started out the door. However, once he got outside, he sat
downonthepicnictable. When the Defendant again asked Crumley toleave, Crumleyreplied, “No,
no, we've got to get this worked out. . . I’ve just got to get it worked out. I've got to have an
attorney.” They started talking about Danny Jones, and Crumley said that Jones deserved the beating
he had given Jones two days before, and he would have killed Jones if he had had a bullet. The
Defendant then brought up Crumley’ stelephone call the night before where Crumley had talked to
Presswood and threatened to come up there shooting everybody. Crumley denied making the phone
call and called Presswood aliar. The Defendant yelled for Presswood, who walked around from the
back of the shed and leaned against the four-wheeler. Presswood then told Crumley that he knew
it was Crumley who called. The Defendant testified that Crumley continued to deny calling and that
he went “from mad to furious.” The Defendant said,

The second time that Jack [Presswood] told him that he, he knew it was him, that he
did call, about the last and the closest to the exact same thing that Billy sad, as |
recall it, was, “If you're going to kill me, you'd better do it quick.” And as he was
saying that, he put both hands beside him and he just had started to move. He never
got stood up. Hejust had put his hands down and had straightened up. His-- 1’1l say
his ass had done cleared the picnic table, but he didn’t have hisknees straightened.
| was sitting down and did right like that (indicating), shot that quick. Immediatdly,
| jumped up and run over to him. Hefell.

The Defendant testified that after shooting Crumley, he panicked. Presswood grabbed one
of Crumley’slegs and started dragging the body, leaving atrail of blood. The Defendant claimed
that Presswood ordered him to help move the body, so he and Presswood drug the body around the
house. They discussed what to do and decided to bury the body. They loaded the body onto the
four-wheeler and took it into the woods, where the Deendant ultimately buried it inahole. Before
the Defendant buried the body, Presswood looked at the hole and agreed that it was the best place
to bury Crumley. The Defendant said that Presswood rinsed the blood stainsaway. Theythendrove
Crumley’s car to another location.



|. THIRTEENTH JUROR

The Defendant first argues that thetrial court failed to properly function as the thirteenth
juror in considering hismotion for judgment of acquittal and anew trial. The Defendant’ strial was
afour day jury tria in early June 1996, with Judge Mayo L. Mashburn presiding. After thetrial, the
Defendant filed amotion for judgment of acquittal and anew trial, which was scheduled to be heard
by Judge Mashburn on July 15, 1996. Unfortunately, Judge Mashburn passed away on July 11,
1996. Judge Carroll Ross was appointed as Judge Mashburn’s successor, but he recused himsel f
from this case due to a conflict. Subsequently, Judge R. Steven Bebb was assigned to rule on the
Defendant’ s motion and to sentencethe Defendant.

On July 9, 1999, Judge Bebb heard argument on the Defendant’s motion. The defense
attorney specifically requested that Judge Bebb consider the evidence asthethirteenthjuror. Hethen
began to discuss the evidence and the credibility of the witnesses, at which point hewasinterrupted
by Judge Bebb, who said,

Let me interrupt just aminute. One of thereasons I’'m not an appellate judge is
becauseit makes me very uncomfortable to think of beinga 13th juror in atrial that
| did not see based upon the record. I’ve read records of trials that I’ ve tried and |
find that it supplements me in making a decision having heard those witnesses
myself, and so I’m going to leave that part to the Court of Criminal Appealsand the
Supreme Court of the State of Tennessee.

The defense attorney then ceased arguing about the weight of the evidence. After hearing argument
regarding the other issues, Judge Bebb stated,

And | don’t want to cut anybody off but let me say this: number one, | feel again at
an extreme disadvantage not having heard the witnessesin thetrial. | have read the
record on four separate occasionsto try toget ready for thishearing. Inaway, well,
| don’'t ever wishwork on myself, but in away | wish, it was an interesting transcript
toread. But | fedl at thistimethe proper thingis Mr. Brown needsto get his appeal
under way and I’'m goingto overrule the mation for anew trid.

The Defendant asserts that these statements by the trial judge indicate that he did not properly
perform his function as the thirteenth juror. We agree.

Tennessee Rule of Criminal Procedure 33(f) providesthat “[t]hetrial court may grantanew
trial following averdict of guilty if it disagrees with the jury about the weight of the evidence.” Our
supremecourt has stated that thisrule“imposes upon atrial court judge the mandatory duty to serve
asthethirteenth juror in every criminal case, and that approval by thetrial judge of thejury’ sverdict
asthethirteenth juror isanecessary prerequisitetoimposition of avalid judgment.” Statev. Carter,
896 S.W.2d 119, 122 (Tenn. 1995). Notwithstanding, thisruledoesnot requirean explicit statement
on therecord that thetrial court performeditsduty. 1d. Compliancewiththeruleis presumed when
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the trial court smply overrules a motion for a new trial without comment; however, “where the
record contains statemerts by the trid judge expressing dissatisfaction or disagreement with the
weight of the evidence or the jury’s verdict, or statements indicating that the trial court absolved
itself of itsresponsibility to act asthethirteenth juror, an appellate court may reversethetrial court’s
judgment.” 1d.; seealsoHeltonv. State, 547 S.W.2d 564, 566-67 (Tenn. 1977); Statev. Dankworth,
919 S.\W.2d 52, 57-58 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1995). This Court *has no independent authority to act
asathirteenthjuror”; thus, the remedy for the trial judge’ s failure to properly fundion as thirteenth
juror isto remand the case for anew trial. State v. Burlison, 868 S.W.2d 713, 719 (Tenn. Crim.
App. 1993); see dso Dankworth, 919 SW.2d at 59.

In Statev. Moats, 906 S.W.2d 431 (Tenn. 1995), our supreme court explained the reasoning
for the thirteenth juror rule as fdlows:

The purpose of the thirteenth juror ruleisto bea*“safeguard. . . againg amiscarriage
of justice by the jury.” State v. Johnson, 692 SW.2d 412, 415 (Tenn. 1985)
(Drowota, J., dissenting). Immediately after the trial, the trial court judgeisin the
sameposition asthejury to evaluatethe credibility of witnessesand assesstheweight
of the evidence, based upon the live tria proceedings. Indeed, this Court has
recognized that “thetrial judge and jury are the primary instrumentality of justice to
determinetheweight and aredibility to be given to the testimony of witnesses. Inthe
trial forum alone isthere human atmosphere and the totality of the evidence cannot
be reproduced with awritten record in this Court.” Bolinv. State 219 Tenn. 4, 11,
405 SW.2d 768, 771 (1966).

Id. at 434-35.

Giventhe statements made by our supreme court regardingthe purpose of thethirteenth juror
rule, it isdifficult to see how atrial judge who has not heard the evidence and who has not seen the
witnesses can act asthethirteenth juror when weight and credibilityareissues. Asthesupremecourt
has asserted, appellate courts are “ill-suited . . . to assess whether the verdict is supported by the
weight and credibility of theevidence.” 1d. at 435. When atria judgeisasked to review theweight
and credibility of the evidence asthe thirteenth juror based upon awritten record, thetrial judge“is
in no better position to evaluate the weight of the evidencethan an appellate court.” Id. However,
in some instances, a judge who has not presided over the trial may be called upon to act as the
thirteenth juror. Tennessee Rule of Crimina Procedure 25(b) provides:

If by reason of absence, death, sicknessor other disability the judge beforewhom the
defendant has been tried is unableto perform the duties to be performed by the court
after averdict of guilty, any other judgeregularly sitting in or who may be assigned
to the court may perform those duties. |f the successor judge is satisfied that he or
she cannot perform those duties because he or she did not preside at the trial or for
any other reason, the successor judge may exercisethediscretion to grant anew trial.




(Emphasis added). In addressing this rule, we have maintained that “a successor judge’s
consideration, pursuant to Rule 25(b), Tenn. R. Crim. P., of whether the duties of the original judge
can be met must include an assessment of hisor her ability to act as a thirteenth juror, including
witness credibility.” State v. Nail, 963 SW.2d 761, 765 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1997). In assessing
whether the successor judge can act as thirteenth juror, the judge

would need to determine the extent to which witness credibility was afactor in the
case and the extent to which he had sufficient knowledge or records before him in
order to decide whether the credible evidence, as viewed by thejudge, adequaely
supported the verdict. If these determinations could not be made by the successor
judge, the verdict could not be approved and a new trial should have been granted.

Id. at 766 (citing State v. Bilbrey, 858 SW.2d 911, 915 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1993)). In State v.
Gillon, 15 SW.3d 492 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1997), we stated, “Implicit in the Nail ruling is that a
judge whosefirst exposure to the case was presiding over the motion for new trial could rule on the
motion if the record was available so long as witness credibility was not an overriding issue.” 1d.

at 502.

Although Judge Bebb overruled the Defendant’ s motion for anew trial, we believe that his
statementson the record indi cate histhoughts that witness credibility wasan issueand that he could
not perform his duty as thirteenth juror based on the written record of the case. Judge Bebb stated
that he read the record four times to prepare for the hearing, but he maintained that he was
“uncomfortable” acting asthirteenth juror because he did not preside over the trial, and he was “at
an extreme disadvantage” because he did not hear the witnesses. Instead of acting as the thirteenth
juror, Judge Bebb stated that he was “going to leave that part to the Court of Criminal Appeals and
the Supreme Court” and that “the proper thingisMr. Brown needsto get hisappeal under way.” As
we have previously stated, we do not have the authority to act as the thirteenth juror. SeeBurlison,
686 SW.2d a 719. Accordingly, we concludethat Judge Bebb did not properly perform hisfunction
asthirteenth juror because of hisinability to do so, and we must reverse the Defendant’ sconvictions
and remand the case for anew trial.

1. FAILURE TO RECUSE

Although our resolution of the Defendant’ sfirst issue is dispodtive, we will consider his
other issuesaswell. In hissecond issue, the Defendant argues that Judge Bebb erred by failing to
recuse himself upon the grounds that only Judge Carroll Ross, the successor in office to the late
Judge Mashburn, could rule on the Defendant’ s motion for anew trial. Tennessee Code Annotated
section 17-1-305 provides:

When avacancy in the office of trial judge exists by reason of death . . . after verdict,
but before the hearing of the motion for new trial, the trial judge’ s successor shall
rule on the defendant’ s motion for new trial after the successor judge has reviewed
the transcript and the entire record of thetrial.
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Tenn. Code Ann. 8 17-1-305 (Supp. 1999). This statute was enacted in 1996, and it replaced the
previous statue which provided that in the event of the death of the trial judge after the verdict but
beforetheruling on the motion for anew trial, thelosing party was automaically granted anewtrial .
Seeid. §17-1-305 (repealed 1996). The Defendant assertsthat the current statute should be strictly
construed to allow only the successor judge to rule on the motion for a new trial because it denies
the defendant the right to have his entire case heard by the same judge. We disagree.

As previoudy discussed, Tennessee Rule of Criminal Procedure 25(b) dlows “any other
judge regularly sitting in or who may be assigned to the court” to rule on a motion for a new trial
after thedeath of thetrial judge. That rule, along with Tennessee Code Annotated section 17-1-305,
allows another judge to rule on the motion for anew trial after the death of the trial judge; thus, a
defendant does not have the absolute right to have his entire case heard by the same judge. We
believethat Tennessee Code Annotated section 17-1-305 must be read together with other stautes,
which allow a different judge to sit by interchange over a case when the regular trial judgeis
incompetent to hear the case. Seeid. 88 17-2-101, -202. It would not be logical to limit the
authority to rule on amotion for anew tria to the successor in office to thelate trial judge because
the successor would be in no better position to rule on the motion than any other judge who could
sit by interchange. In this case, Judge Ross was the successor to Judge Mashburn and would have
been the judge to hear the case pursuant to Tennessee Code Annotated section 17-1-305. However,
Judge Ross recused himsdf because he had previously consulted withthe family of the victim about
the possibility of suing the Defendant. Accordingy, it was proper for Judge Bebb to hear the case
by interchange. Seeid. Wefind no error.

1. SUFFICIENCY OF THE EVIDENCE

Next, the Defendant challenges the sufficiency of the evidence. He argues that there was
insufficient evidence of guilt and that there wasinsufficient evidencethat theoffensewas committed
prior to thereturn of theindictment. We will addressthese contentions separatel y.

A. Evidence of quilt

The Defendant argues that the State failed to prove that he acted with premeditation in the
killing of Billy Crumley. Tennessee Rule of Appellate Procedure 13(e) prescribes that “[f]indi ngs
of guilt in criminal actions whether by the trial court or jury shall be set asideif the evidence is
insufficient to support thefindingsby thetrier of fact of guilt beyond areasonabledoubt.” Evidence
is sufficient if, after reviewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, any
rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond areasonabledoubt.
Jackson v. Virginig 443 U.S. 307, 319 (1979). In addition, because conviction by atrier of fact
destroys the presumption of innocence and imposes a presumption of guilt, a convicted criminal
defendant bears the burden of showing that the evidence was insufficient. McBee v. State 372
S.W.2d 173, 176 (Tenn. 1963); see also State v. Evans, 838 S.W.2d 185, 191 (Tenn. 1992) (citing
Statev. Grace, 493 S.W.2d 474, 476 (Tenn. 1976), and Statev. Brown, 551 S.W.2d 329, 331 (Tenn.
1977)); Statev. Tuggle 639 S.W.2d 913, 914 (Tenn. 1982); Holt v. State, 357 S.\W.2d 57, 61 (Tenn.
1962).
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Initsreview of theevidence, an appd|ate court must aff ord the State“ the strongest legtimate
view of the evidence as well as all reasonable and legitimate inferences that may be drawn
therefrom.” Tuggle, 639 SW.2d at 914 (citing State v. Cabbage, 571 S.W.2d 832, 835 (Tenn.
1978)). The court may not “re-weigh or re-evaluate the evidence” in the record below. Evans, 838
S.W.2d at 191 (citing Cabbage, 571 SW.2d at 836). Likewise, should the reviewing court find
particular conflictsin thetrial testimony, the court must resolve them in favor of the jury verdict or
trial court judgment. Tuggle 639 SW.2d at 914. All questions involving the credibility of
witnesses, the weight and value to be given the evidence, and all factual issues are resolved by the
trier of fact, not the gppellate courts. State v. Pappas, 754 S.W.2d 620, 623 (Tenn. Crim. App.
1987).

Looking at the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, the proof established that
Crumley and the Defendant had previously threatened tokill each other. On the day of thekilling,
the Defendant stated to Jack Presswood that if Crumley came to his house, hewould kill Crumley.
Knowing that Crumley might arrive, the Defendant loaded his gun. Crumley was notarmed. The
Defendant shot Crumley from a distance of ten to fifteen feet. According to Jack Presswood,
Crumley had made no threatening movements, and theshooting “was nat self-defense” From this
evidence, arationa jury could have concluded that the Defendant shot Crumley “ after the exercise
of reflection and judgment,” thereby finding that the ad was premeditated. See Tenn. Code Ann.
§ 39-13-202(d). Therefore, we conclude that the evidencewas sufficient to support the conviction
for first degree murder.2

B. Evidence of commission of offense prior to indictment

In thisissue, the Defendant presents a unique and compelling aigument. He asertsthat his
conviction must be reversed because the State did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the
offensewas committed before thereturn of theindictment. After athorough review of hisargument
and the applicable law, we agree.

Tennessee Code Annotated section 39-11-201 sets forth the State’s burden of proof in
criminal cases asfollows:

(a) No person may be convicted of an offense unless each of the following is proven
beyond a reasonable doubt:

(1) The conduct, circumstances surrounding the conduct, or aresult of the conduct
described in the definition of the offense;

(2) The culpable mental state required;

(3) The negation of any defense to an offense defined in thistitle if admissible
evidence isintroduced supporting the defense; and

(4) The offense was committed prior to the return of the formal charge.

2The Defendant does not argue in his brief that the evidence is insufficient to support the conviction for abuse
of acorpse.
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(Emphasisadded). Thus, it appears that our legislature has mandated that before a person can be
convicted of a criminal offense, the State mug prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the person
committed the offense priar to the time he or she was formally charged with the offense. While it
seemsobviousthat no person would beindicted or otherwise formally charged with the commission
of the offense of murder before the victim was actually killed, the legislature has chosen to require
the State to prove that fact beyond a reasonable doubt. Our research has revealed no explicit
rationale for such arule, but we believe it may have arisen from the requirements concerning the
content of indictments.

Tennessee Code Annotated section 40-13-207, entitled “Time of offense,” provides, “The
time at which the offense was committed need not be stated in the indictment, but the offense may
be alleged to have been committed on any day before the finding thereof, or generally before the
finding of the indictment, unless the time isamaterial ingredient in the offense.” Thus, unlessthe
time of the offense is material, it does not have to be specificaly stated in the indictment; an
indictment is sufficient if it alleges that the offense occurred sometime prior to the return of the
indictment. In State v. Shaw, 82 SW. 480 (Tenn. 1904), our supreme court explained the rule as
follows:

Theruleto be deduced from our casesisthat, wherethereisno statute of limitations
barring the offense, it is unnecessary to state the day, or even the year, but it is
sufficient to aver generally that the offense was committed before thefinding of the
indictment; that it is not necessary to state in any case the day on which the offense
was committed, unless the date itself is of the essence of the offense, as of offenses
committed against |aws passed for the preservation of the Sabbath, or unlessthetime
isimportant to bring the offense within the operation of new or amended statutesor
the like; but where there is a statute of limitations that bars the offense there should
be a sufficiently definite averment of time in the indictment to show that the offense
was committed within the statutory limit; and, finally, that where an impossible date
isgiven, asin the present indictment, it will be disregarded if the offenseis one as
to which there is no statute of limitations, or as to which the date itself is not
important.

1d. at 480 (emphasis added).

It is not clear how this rule regarding the alegation of the time of the offense in the
indictment became a matter of proof at trial, but cases addressing this rule have stated,

The rule is that the offense must be proved to have been committed prior to the
finding of the indctment and within the time specified by any applicable statute of
limitation; and, except where a special date is essential or timeis of the essence of
theoffense, thetime of the commission of the offense averred in theindictment isnot
material and proof is not confined to the time charged.
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Statev. West, 737 SW.2d 790, 792 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1987); Princev. State, 529 S.\W.2d 729, 733
(Tenn. Crim. App. 1975). The Court of Appealsof Georgia, in addressing asimilar rulein Georgia,
has stated,

From the earliest times, both in England and in Georgia, it hasbeen held that unless
timeisan essential element of the offense charged, the time of the commission of the
offensealleged in theindictment, presentment, accusation, information, or affidavit,
isimmaterial; and, proof of the commission of the offense at any time prior to the
finding of theindictment or presentment, thefiling of the accusation or information,
or the swearing of the affidavit where made the foundation of the accusation, will
sustain aconviction if theproof aso establish the commission of the offense within
the statute of limitations.

Brown v. State 62 S.E.2d 732, 733-34 (Ga. App. 1950).

From these cases, we surmise that the rule requiring the State to prove that the offense
occurred prior to the return of the indictment was a result of the rule that the exact time of the
offense is not material and an indictment need only allege that the offense ocaurred prior to the
indictment. We question, however, the necessity of making this rule amatter for the determination
of thetrier of fact. If theindictment alleged an impossible date, the indictment could be challenged
prior to trial pursuant to Tennessee Rule of Criminal Procedure 12(b)(2). If the proof at trial
established that the offense charged was not committed until after the return of the indictment, the
trial court could take appropriate actionat that timeto dismissthe proceedings agai nst the defendant.
It appears unnecessary toask ajury to determine whether a defendant committed an offense before
he or she was charged with the commission of that offense.

Nevertheless, our |egislaturehas required the State to prove beyond areasonabl e doubt that
the offense was committed prior to the return of the formal charge. Granted, thisis an easy matter
to prove. Generally, thefirst thing to happen in atria after the juryis sworn isthat the indictment
isread to thejury. See Raybin, Tennessee Criminal Practice and Procedure, § 26.10. Our supreme
court has stated that the reading of the indictment “is an appropriate and proper procedure. The
indictment at bestisamere accusation toinformthejury of the chargesagainst thedefendant.” State
v. Bane, 853 S\W.2d 483, 484 (Tenn. 1993). Theindictment is not to be considered evidence of a
defendant’ squilt, seeid., but we do believe the indictment itself can establish the date upon which
it wasreturned. Thus, the reading of theindictment to the jury, coupled with evidence of when the
offense was committed, would establish that the offense was committed prior to the return of the
indictment. Also, the State could merely ask an appropriate witness whether the actions of the
defendant constituting the offense occurred beforethe défendant was charged with that offense. This
would satisfy the requirements of the statute as well.

The problem with this case is that there is no evidence that the indictment was ever read to
the jury or shown to the jury, and no witness was asked whether the offense occurred prior to the
return of the indictment. Before the presentation of proof, the trial judge stated, “All right. Mr.
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Brown, you'’ re charged with the offense of murde of Billy Ray Crumley, and abuse of a corpse.
How do you pleadtothosecharges?’ TheDefendant replied, “Not guilty,” and thetrial commenced.
At theend of thetrial, thetrial judge instructed the jury that the “indictment in this case chargesthe
defendant with the crime of first degree murder . . . and the crime of abuse of a corps.” Healso
instructed the jury that the “indictment in this case is the formal written accusation charging the
defendant with acrime” and that the “ state must have proven beyond a reasonable doubt all of the
elementsof the crime charged, that the crime, if in fact committed, was committed by this defendant
in McMinn County, Tennessee, and that it was committed before the finding and returning of the
indictment inthiscase.” Although thetrial court instructed the jury regardingthe indictment, there
is no evidence contained in the record that he gave the jury the indictment.

We redlize that it is obvious that the murder was committed prior to the return of the
indictment. Nevertheless, this fact must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt. Because the
indictment was not read to the jury and because the Statedid not otherwise offer proof of the date
of the indictment or proof that the offense was committed before the return of the indictment, the
State did not prove thisfact at all. Accordingly, we have no choicebut to reverse the Defendant’s
convictions due to this lack of proof.

Wedo, however, concludethat thislack of proof will not prevent theretrial of the Defendant.
In State v. Hutcherson, 790 SW.2d 532 (Tenn. 1990), our supreme court noted that “where the
reversal is for trial error, the case may be remanded for a new trial without violating the Double
Jeopardy Clause, but where an appellate court finds the prosecution’s proof on the issue of guilt or
innocence of defendant was insufficient to convict, Double Jeopardy commands adismissal.” Id.
at 534. The court stated that “the basic distinction is whether the defect that requires reversa
involved the guilt or innocence” of the defendant, and it determined that the failure to establish
venue, which must also be proven before a defendant can be convicted, did not involve the guilt or
innocence of thedefendant. Id. at 535. Webelievethat establishingthat the offensewas committed
prior to the return of the indictment is similar to establishing venue; it does not involve the guilt or
innocence of the defendant. Here, the guilt of the Defendant was clearly proven. Therefore, we
reverse the Defendant’ s convictions and remand the case for anew trial.

V. SPECIAL JURY INSTRUCTION REQUEST

Next, the Defendant argues that the trial court erred by failing to grant his specia jury
instruction request. The State’s primary witness against the Defendant was Ndl Jack Presswood,
who had been indicted for accessory after the fact in the same indictment as the Defendant and who
had been convicted, along with the Defendant, of federal drug charges. Presswood admitted
testifying against the Defendant in the federal drug trial as part of his plea agreement, and he
admitted that he had agreed with the State to testify against the Defendant in the murder trial. As
aresult, the Defendant requested the following special jury instruction based in part on the pattern
jury instructions for the Sixth Circuit of the United States Court of Appeals, which was denied by
thetrial court:
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Y ou have also heard that the government has promised certain witnesses that they
may receive a recommendation of leniency which might include a substantially
reduced sentence in exchange for truthful cooperation and testimony aganst the
defendant, or that the witness will be immune from prosecution for certain crimes.
It is permissible for the government to make such promises. However, you should
consider the testimony of such a witness with more caution than the testimony of
other witnesses. Consider whether such testimony may have been influenced by the
government’s promises. Do not convict the defendant based on the unsupported
testimony of such a witness, standing alone, unless you believe their testimony
beyond a reasonable doubt. The fact that another person has been convicted of a
crimeisnot itself evidence that the defendant is guilty, and you cannot consider this
aga ng the defendant in any way.

Y ou have also heardtestimony from awitness who may have an addiction to drugs.
An addict may have aconstant need for drugs, and for money to buy drugs, and may
also have agreater fear of imprisonment because the supply of drugs may be cut off.
Think about these things and consider whether this testimony may have been
influenced by the government’s promise. Again, do not convict a defendant based
on the unsupported testimony of such awitness, standing alone, unlessyou believe
it beyond a reasonable doubt.

Instead of giving the requested instruction, the trial court gave the falowing standard instruction
concerning thecredibility of witnesses:

You are the exclusive judges of credibility of the witnesses and the weight to be
given to their testimony. If there are conflicts in the testimony of the different
witnesses you must reconcile them, if you can, without hastily or rashly concluding
that any witness has sworn falsely, for the law presumes that all witnesses are
truthful. Informing your opinion asto the credibility of awitness, you may look to
the proof, if any, of (1) hisor her general character, (2) the evidence, if any, of the
witness' reputationfor truth and veracity, (3) theintelligence and respectability of the
witness, (4) his or her interest or lack of interest in the outcome of the trial, (5) his
or her feelings, (6) his or her apparent fairness or bias, (7) his or her means of
knowledge, (8) the reasonableness of hisor her statements, (9) hisor her appearance
and demeanor whiletestifying, (10) hisor her contradictory statementsasto material
matters, if any are shown, and all the evidence in the case tending to corroborate or
to contradict him or her.

A defendant has a constitutional right to a complete and correct charge of the law. Statev.
Tedl, 793 SW.2d 236, 249 (Tenn. 1990). In determining whether jury instrudions are erroneous,
this Court must read the entire charge and only invalidateit if, when read asawhole, it failstofairly
submit the legal issues or misleadsthejury asto the applicable law. See Statev. Vann, 976 S.W.2d
93, 101 (Tenn. 1998); State v. Phipps, 883 SW.2d 138, 142 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1994). When the
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instructions given by the trial judge correctly, fully, and fairly set forth the applicable law, it is not
error to refuseto give aspecial instruction requested by aparty. Statev. Bohanan, 745 S.W.2d 892,
897 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1987).

The instruction regarding witness credibility given by the trial judge correctly, fully, and
fairly set forth the applicable law in the State of Tennessee. The jury was informed that it should
consider awitness' bias and interest in the case in addressing witness credibility, as well as any
contradictory statements made by the witness. On cross-examination of Jack Presswood, the
Defendant was able to bring Presswood’ s plea agreements to the attention of the jury, as well as
Presswood’ s contradictory statements in the statements he gave to police and in the letter he wrote
to the Defendant injail. While the closing arguments were not included in the record, we have no
doubt that the defense argued that these factors affected Presswood’ s credibility. Accordingly, we
find no error in the tria court’s refusd to givethe specid ingruction to thejury.

V. TESTIMONY OF JUDGE FRANK HAMMONDS

The Defendant assertsthat thetrial court erred by refusing to alow Judge Frank Hammonds,
the Polk County General Sessions Judge, to testify concerning Billy Crumley’s reputation for
violence and aspecific threa of violence on thepart of Billy Crumley. Prior to bringing inthe jury
on the third day of thetrial, the trial judge stated,

| have previoudly ruled that | will not permit any further testimony of the alleged
violence of the victim, Billy Ray Crumley, on the grounds that it is cumulative. 1
havefurther ruled that no further evidence of any specific acts of violence on the part
of Crumley will be permitted, nor any further evidence of thevictim’ sdleged threats
to kill the defendant will be permitted.

In response, the Defendant made several offers of proof, one of whi ch was the testimony of Judge
Hammonds. Judge Hammonds testified that he knew the victim, Billy Crumley, and that Billy
Crumley “did have areputation of violence when he was drinking or on drugs.” Judge Hammonds
said that Crumley appeared beforehim ingeneral sessionscourt anumber of times. Onetime, Judge
Hammonds saw Crumley get “real loud with the clerk over some costs,” so he asked Crumley to
come back into his chambers so that he could calm Crumley down. Once Crumley was back there,
Crumley “flew off the handle, started to strike me I’ m sure. But Officer Burriswas in there and he
stopped him.” Although Crumley didnot hit the judge, he did pull back hisfist and say, “I’ll knock
the hell out of you.” On appeal, the Defendant asserts that thetrial court should have admitted this
testimony because it was relevant to show a pertinent character trait of the victim, “namely his
reputation for violence.”

The admissibility of evidence is a matter within the sound discretion of thetrial court, and
this Court will not disturb the trial court’s ruling absent a clear showing of an abuse of that
discretion. See State v. Cauthern, 967 SW.2d 726, 743 (Tenn. 1998); State v. Banks, 564 S.W.2d
947,949 (Tenn. 1978). Tennessee Ruleof Evidence 403 allowsatrial court to exclude evidence“if
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its probative valueis substantially outweighed by . .. considerations of undue delay, waste of time,
or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.”

Based on our review of the evidence, we cannot say that thetrial judge abused hisdiscretion
by excluding Judge Hammond'’ s testimony because it was cumulative. The Defendant was given
ampleopportunity to present evidence tending to show that thevictim had areputation for violence.
Virtually every witness who testified and who knew the victim said that the victim was violernt.
Even the victim’'s mother testified that the victim had been arrested “40-some odd” times for
“fighting and drinking.” Several witnessestestified regarding the victim’ s brutal beating of Danny
Jones and the victim’'s repeated threats to kill the Defendant. Accordingly, we find no error in the
exclusion of this evidence.

VI. MEDICAL RECORDS OF DANNY JONES

The Defendant asserts that the trial court erred by refusing to admit Danny Jones’ hospital
records. The Defendant arguesthat the records would have shown that Jones had multiple bruises
about his body, aswell asa strong odor of gasoline, which would carroborate Jones’ testimony
regarding his beating by the victim. In refusing to admit the medical records, the trial court stated,

| will not permit the medical records of Mr. Jonesto go into evidence. He has, both
he and his wife have testified concerning his affray with Mr. Crumley. No one has
contested that. They have both testifiedasto hismedical treatment, and asfar asI’m
concerned, all you're doing is cluttering up the record with medical records to
corroboratetestimony of both Jones and hiswife, none of which has been contested.

Asdated previoudy, the admissibility of evidenceisamatter within the sound discretion of
the trial court, and this Court will not disturb the trial court’s ruling absent a clear showing of an
abuse of that discretion. See Cauthern, 967 SW.2d at 743; Banks, 564 S\W.2d at 949. We see no
abuse of discretion in refusing to dlow the medical records into evidence. Evidence may be
excluded if itsprobativevalueis substantially outwei ghed by undue del ay, waste of time, or needless
presentation of cumulative evidence. Tenn. R. Evid. 403. Here, both Danny Jones and his wife,
Tammy Jones, testified regarding the victim’ s attack of Danny Jones. Whilethe State attempted to
attack the testimony of Mr. and Ms. Jones regarding their relationship and dealings with the
Defendant, the State never atempted to refutethe Jones’ testimony that Danny Jones was attacked
and beaten by Billy Crumley. Therefore, the admission of the medical records showing that Danny
Jones was bruised and smelled of gasoline would have merely “cluttered up the record,” as stated
by the trial court. There was no need to presant that evidence, as it was cumulative. Thisissueis
without merit.

VII. FAILURE TO GRANT A MISTRIAL

Next, the Defendant asserts that the trial court erred by failingto grant a midrial ater T.J.
Jordan, a witness for the State, volunteered information to the jury that a certain four-wheel land
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vehiclefound on the Defendant’ s property was “ stolen.” Mr. Jordan was the Tennessee Bureau of
I nvestigation agent who coordinated theraid on the Defendant’ shome on July 27, 1994. During his
testimony, heidentified apicture of ared four-wheel land vehicle asthe one which wasfound on the
Defendant’ sproperty, and then hevolunteered information that the vehiclewasstolen. Hetestified,
“And in fact, this four, four-wheeler was then determined to be stolen.” The Defendant did not
object and questioning continued. During the next recess, the trial judge asked the attorneysif Mr.
Jordan had said the vehicle was stolen. The State confirmed that he had indeed said that, and the
Defendant requested that it be stricken. After more discussion, the Defendant moved for amidrial,
which thetrial court denied. Thetrial court then called the jury in and gavethe jury the following
instruction:

Ladies and gentlemen, before you leave, let me tell you something here. 1f you'll
recall, duringthe tegimony of Mr. Jordan, T.J. Jordan, heidentified a photograph of
...what dothey call that thing, a four-whed er? Doyoud | remember histestimony?
The four-wheeler, which he, he said something to the effect that it was later
determined that it was stolen. Now let me tell you folks something. We have
absolutely no evidence that that thing was stolen, or if it was stolen, we have
absolutely no evidence that Mr. Brown stole it or knew anything about it, or knew it
was stolen. So, my instruction to you is that you will totally disregard that. . . part
of thistestimony, and not under any circumstances hold it against this defendant in
any way. Now can you all represent to me that you will follow my instruction with
respect to that?

All of the jurors responded affirmatively.

The Defendant argues the trial court should have granted a mistrial because the improper
statement by Mr. Jordan “poisoned”’ the minds of the jury “with the idea that Defendant was
involved in some sort of dishonest criminal activity (i.e., theft of afour-wheel land vehicle) and no
matter how strongly the trial court admonishes the witness and sustains the objection the juror’s
minds were irreversibly poisoned.” We disagree.

The decision of whether to grant amistrial isamatter within the discretion of thetrial court,
and we will not disturb thetrial court’ s action on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion. Statev.
Millbrooks, 819 SW.2d 441, 443 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1991). Generally, a mistrial will only be
declared “if thereis amanifest necessity requiring such action by thetrial judge.” Arnoldv. State,
563 S.\W.2d 792, 794 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1977). “If it appears that some matter has occurred which
would prevent an impartial verdict from being reached, amistrial may be declared.” Id.

We find no “manifest necessity” for a mistrial in this case. While Mr. Jordan did offer
improper testimony, thejury wasinstructed to disregard hisstatements. A jury ispresumedtofollow
atrial court’sinstructions not to consider inadmissible evidence. Millbrooks, 819 SW.2d at 443.
Moreover, the jury heard a multitude of evidence regarding criminal activity on the part of the
Defendant. Several witnesses, including the Defendant, testified that the Defendant regularly sold
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methamphetaminefrom hishome. We do not believethat testimony regarding astolenfour-wheder
would have greatly altered the jurors opinions regarding the Defendant’ s character or hisillegd
activity. It certainly would not have* poisoned” the minds of the jurors such that the jury could not
return an impartial verdict. We find no error.

VIII. ANTI-SHUTTLING PROVISIONS

The Defendant next contends that the trid court erred by overruling his motion to dismiss
the criminal charges because the State violated the anti-shuttling provisions of the Interstate
Agreement on Detainers Act. The Interstate Agreement on Detainers is acompact between the
states, the District of Columbia, Puerto Rico, the Virgin Islands, and the United States. See
Carchman v. Nash, 473 U.S. 716, 719 (1985). Tennessee has adopted the Agreement, which is
codified at Tennessee Code Annotated secti on40-31-101. The Agreementisdes gnedto®encourage
the expeditious and ordely disposition of . . . charges [outstanding against a prisoner] and
determination of the proper statusof any and all detai nersbased on untried indictments, informations
or complaints.” Tenn. Code Ann. §40-31-101, art.|. Theprovisionsof the Agreement aretriggered
only when a“detainer” isfiled with the custodial or sending state, which includesthe United States,
by another statewhich hasuntried chargespending against the prisoner. United Statesv. Mauro, 436
U.S. 340, 343 (1978). “A detainer isareguest filed by aaiminal justice agency withtheinstitution
in which a prisoner isincarcerated, asking the institution either to hold the prisoner for the agency
or to notify the agency when release of the prisoner isimminent.” Nash, 473 U.S. at 719. Oncea
detainer has been filed against a prisoner, the Agreement provides two methods by which the
prisoner may be brought totrial inthereceiving state. See Tenn. Code Ann. §40-31-101, art. Ill-art.
V. Once a prisoner i s brought to the receiving state, article 1V (e) of the A greement provides, “If
trial is not had on any indictment, information or complaint contemplated hereby prior to the
prisoner’ sbeing returned to the original place of imprisonment pursuant to article V(e) hereof, such
indictment, information or complaint shall not be of any further force or effect, and the court shall
enter an order dismissing the same with prejudice.” 1d. 8 40-31-101, art. IV(e). Relyingon this
provision, the Defendant argues that the McMinn County Crimind Court lost jurisdictiontotry him
becauseprior to trial hewastransferred back and forth between federal andstate custodyin violation
of the Agreement, and he assats that the McMinn County Crimind Court lost jurisdiction to
sentence him because he was transferred back and forth between federal and state custody prior to
sentencing. He therefore requests that the criminal proceeding against him be dismissed.

Wefirst notethat our review of the record does not reveal thefiling of adetainer against the
Defendant. Although the Defendant was transferred between state and federal custody on several
occasions, the State obtained custody of the Defendant on each occasion through a writ of habeas
corpusad prosequendum. The United States Supreme Court hasexplicitly held that awrit of habeas
corpus ad prosequendum, “directing the production of a. . . prisoner for trial on criminal charges,
IS not a detainer within the meaning of the Agreement and thus does not trigger the application of
the Agreement.” Mauro, 436 U.S. at 349. We have also recognized that the Agreement “is not the
exclusivemeansof transfer of prisonersbetweenjurisdictions’ and have held that “thewrit of habeas
corpus ad prosequendum [ig not . . . adetainer within the meaning of the agreement and thus does
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not trigger the application of the agreement.” Metheny v. State, 589 S.W.2d 943, 945 (Tenn. Crim.
App. 1979). Therefore, we hold that the provisions of the Agreement were never triggered because
a detainer was not filed against the Defendant. Because the Agreement was never triggered, the
transfer of the Defendant between federal and state custody beforethefinal disposition of thecharges
against him did not violate the Agreement. See Mauro, 436 U.S. at 360-61; Metheny, 589 SW.2d
at 945.

Furthermore, even if the provisions of the Agreement had been triggered, wefind that the
State did not violate the provisions. The Agreement applies only to prisoners who are already
serving a sentence of imprisonment in another jurisdiction. See Tenn. Code Ann. 8§ 40-31-101 art.
[11(a), art. 1V(a) (referring to a prisoner who “has entered upon” and who “is serving a term of
imprisonment”). Although the Defendant was held in federal custody while he was awaiting trial
on federal drug charges, he was not tried on those charges until December of 1995. He wes
sentenced to life plus sixty months, or five years, on March 4, 1996. Thus, the Agreement would
not have been triggered until the Defendant had begun to serve hisfederal sentence after conviction.
After trial and sentencing on the federal charges, the Defendant remained in federal custody until
custody was transferred to the State of Tennessee pursuant to a writ of habeas corpus ad
prosequendum issued on April 16, 1996. After custody was transferred pursuant to that writ, the
Defendant was tried on first degree murder and abuse of a corpse charges in McMinn County
between June 3, 1996 and June 6, 1996, and the trial resulted in guilty verdicts on both charges.
After trial, the Defendant remained in gate custody until September 1996, when he wasreturned to
federal custody. Because the Defendant was tried on the indictments prior to being returned to
federal custody, the State could not have violated the Agreement. Seeid. § 40-31-101, art. IV (e).
Likewise, when the Defendant was again returned to state custody from federal custody in 1999 for
sentencing, he had already been tried and convicted on the charges. Because he had already been
tried on theindictments, the provigon mandating dismissal of thecharges“[i]f trial isnot had on any
indictment . . . prior to the prisoner’s being returned to the original place of imprisonment” was
inapplicable. Seeid.; see also Nash, 473 U.S. at 725-26; State v. Evitts, 915 S.\W.2d 468, 769-70
(Tenn. Crim. App. 1995); State v. Hill, 875 S\W.2d 278, 281-8 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1993).
Accordingly, we conclude that the State did not viol ate the anti-shuttling provisions of the I nterstate
Agreement on Detainers.

IX. SENTENCING

Findly, the Defendant arguesthat the trial court erred by ordering hislife sentence for first
degree murder to run consecutivdy to hisfederal sentence of life plusfive years. He assertsthat it
is“cruel and unusual punishment” to give him consecutive lifesentences when thefirst sentenceis
amandatory life sentence without the possibility of parole. He also arguesthat to do so defieslogic.

When an accused challengesthe length, range, or manner of service of a sentence, this Court
has a duty to conduct ade novo review of the sentence with a presumption that the determinations
made by the trial court are correct. Tenn. Code Ann. § 40-35-401(d). This presumption is
“conditioned upon the affirmative showing intherecord that thetrial court considered the sentencing
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principles and all relevant factsand circumstances.” State v. Ashby, 823 SW.2d 166, 169 (Tenn.
1991).

When conducting ade novo review of asentence, this Court must consider: (a) the evidence,
if any, received at the trial and sentencing hearing; (b) the presentence report; (c) the principles of
sentencing and arguments as to sentencing alternatives; (d) the nature and characteristics of the
criminal conduct involved; (e) any statutory mitigaing or enhancement factors; (f) any statement
made by the defendant regarding sentenang; and (g) the potential or lack of potential for
rehabilitation or treatment. Statev. Thomas, 755 S.W.2d 838, 844 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1988); Tenn.
Code Ann. 88 40-35-102, -103, -210.

If our review reflectsthat thetrial court followed the statutory sentencing procedure, that the
court imposed a lawful sentence after having given due consideration and proper weight to the
factorsand principles set out under the sentencing law, and that the trial court’ s findings of fact are
adequately supported by the record, then we may not modify the sentence even if we would have
preferred a different result. State v. Fletcher, 805 S.W.2d 785, 789 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1991).

Tennessee Rule of Criminal Procedure 32(c)(2) provides that when the defendant has
“additional sentences or portions thereof to serve, as the result of conviction in other states or in
federal court, the sentence imposed shall be consecutive thereto unless the court shall determinein
the exercise of its discretion that good cause exists to run the sentences concurrently and explicitly
soorders.” (Emphasisadded). A trial court may al so sentence adefendant to consecutive sentences
if the court determinesthat the defendant hasarecord of criminal adivity whichisextensive. Tenn.
Code Ann. § 40-35-115(b)(2).

When sentencing the Defendant to a consecutive sentence, the trial court mentioned the
positive thingsthe Defendant had done since being incarceratedin federal prison, such asbecoming
a Christian and taking classes offered by the prison. The court, however, placed great emphasis on
the Defendant’ s extensive prior criminal activity involving drugs. The court stated, I think in the
exercise of my duty . . . based on that extensive record and Rule 32 . . . that | would be derelict in
my duties if | did not run this consecutive.” Under our sentencing statute and Rule 32 of the
Tennessee Rules of Criminal Procedure, the trial court imposed alawful sentence. It appears that
the court considered the relevant sentencing principles. Accordingly, we cannot find error in the
order of consecutive sentencing.

CONCLUSION
We hold that the trial court erred by failing to properly function asthe thirteenth juror and

that the State failed toprove that the offense was committed prior to the return of theformal charge.
Accordingly, we reverse the Defendant’ s convictions and remand the case for anew trial.
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